FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 9/28/2018 4:39 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/3/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

96381-9

No. 77156-6-I

## THE COURT OF APPEALS

#### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_\_

## TIMOTHY WHITE, ALLAN ROSATO, LINDA ORGEL, ARTHUR GRUNBAUM, and GREEN PARTY OF SAN JUAN COUNTY,

Petitioners,

v.

KIM WYMAN, individually and in her capacity as Secretary of State for the State of Washington, MILENE HENLEY, in her capacity as San Juan County Auditor, and SAN JUAN COUNTY,

| Respondents.        |  |
|---------------------|--|
| PETITION FOR REVIEW |  |

SMITH & LOWNEY, PLLC
By: Knoll D. Lowney WSBA No. 23457

#### I. INTRODUCTION

It should be beyond question that the secrecy of the ballot is a critical constitutional issue of substantial public interest. Indeed, even the United States Supreme Court has taken the opportunity to analyze the historical underpinnings and importance of the right to a secret ballot, having granted *certiorari* for what could be considered a minor dispute about non-political buffer zones around polling locations. *Burson v.*Freeman, 504 U.S. 191, 112 S.Ct. 1846, 119 L.Ed. 2d 5 (1992). Here, the public interest in this case is even more profound because Washington voters experience glaring inequality from county to county regarding their constitutional right to voter secrecy. Only this Court can remedy the disparate protections that exist to ensure that each voter is equally afforded their constitutional right to a secret ballot.

The Washington State Constitution guarantees the right to an "absolutely secret ballot" and numerous statutes provide detailed protections of the secret ballot. *See* Wash. Const. Art. VI, Sec. 6; RCW 29A.08.161 and RCW 29A.36.111.

Yet, the Washington Supreme Court has *never* issued an opinion that explains the substance of that Constitutional right or whether and how it can be enforced. That is worth repeating: In the almost 130-year history of the Washington State Constitution, this Court has never issued a

substantive opinion on the protections and enforceability of Article VI, Section 6.

This is the right moment for this Court to end its silence on this important constitutional issue. While unpublished, the Court of Appeals' decision is the sole voice in the silence on this constitutional issue<sup>1</sup> and as such will have the effect of undermining the constitutional right to a secret ballot as well as the several statutes that detail and protect that right.

It is up to this Court to decide whether the right to a secret ballot is compromised when Counties add unique numbers to ballots. It is up to this Court to decide whether it is okay for a County to then track the ballots back to the voters who cast them. While respondents argue that such ballot numbering and ballot tracking increases election security, the voters whose ballots are numbered and tracked have reason to question the secrecy of their ballots. The result is that voters in counties without numbered ballots know that their ballots are secret, while informed voters in counties with numbered and tracked ballots suspect their votes can be traced back to them, and are therefore vulnerable to the ills that the secret ballot was designed to combat.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>White v. Clark County, 188 Wn.App. 622 (2015) confirmed that a ballot could not be released as a public record if it could be traced to a voter, but did not involve a dispute over ballot numbering or UBIs.

The profound concerns that this case exposes are widely shared. When this case was originally filed, then Secretary of State Sam Reed stated, "Ever since Florida nationally and the gubernatorial recount in this state, the trust and confidence of the voters is a very serious concern. This [case] would resolve some of those concerns." Kim Wyman, then a County Auditor, said she would not allow "individual tracking marks on ballots out of concern that the public would object." *The Olympian*'s Editorial Board agreed that this case would resolve an important controversy:

Let's get this question settled once and for all so voters can have faith that Washington has a fair and honest election system where voter privacy is paramount.

. .

With these sharply conflicting views of ballot bar codes and how they are used to track voters, it's imperative that Supreme Court justices do a thorough review and determine whether ballot secrecy has been violated.<sup>4</sup>

This Court declined to review this case before the Court of

Appeals had issued an opinion. It has now done so. Without review of

<sup>2</sup> Brad Shannon, *Reed Says Ballot Ruling is Needed*, THE OLYMPIAN, Sunday Editorial, July 18, 2009, http://www.theolympian.com/news/politics-government/election/article25236520.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Brad Shannon, *Secret Ballot Threatened, Suit Alleges*, THE OLYMPIAN, July 15, 2009, http://www.theolympian.com/news/politics-government/election/article25236361.html. <sup>4</sup> Editorial, *Let's Get Vote Suspicions Settled for Peace of Mind*, THE OLYMPIAN, July 19, 2009, http://www.theolympian.com/opinion/editorials/article25236577.html (emphasis added).

that opinion, ballot numbering and tracking will gradually become the norm throughout the State of Washington and the Court of Appeals' test for secret ballot cases will be the only precedent, effectively precluding every future secret ballot challenge and rendering the secret ballot statutes meaningless. This case warrants Supreme Court review.

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Timothy White, Allan Rosato, Linda Orgel, Arthur Grunbaum, and the Green Party of San Juan County.

#### III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division One of the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion on August 6, 2018. *Appendix A*. It denied Petitioners' motion for reconsideration on August 30, 2018. *Appendix B*.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the practice of numbering ballots, through Unique Ballot Identifiers ("UBIs") or otherwise, violate the constitutional and/or statutory right to absolute secrecy of the ballot?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that a voter cannot maintain an action to enforce the right of the secret ballot unless he or she can meet the impossible burden of proving that the his or her votes were actually revealed?

- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err in its interpretation of the statutes protecting the secret ballot, given such interpretations' inconsistency with the plain statutory language?
- 4. Is equal protection violated when voters in some counties cast ballots without UBIs and therefore can be absolutely confident in the secrecy of their ballot whereas the voters in other counties are forced to cast ballots with UBIs and, therefore, have reasonable doubts about whether their own *and* their compatriots' votes are absolutely secret?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When states first adopted the secret ballot, over a century ago, state supreme courts across the nation determined that the right of absolute ballot secrecy prohibited the numbering of ballots. In 1910, the Idaho Supreme Court surveyed cases from around the nation to determine that "it is perfectly safe to say that the legislature would have no authority under this constitutional guarantee to require the numbering of the ballots. The authorities to that effect are quite uniform." *McGrane v. County of Nez Pierce*, 18 Idaho 714, 112 P. 312 (1910). Cases from across the nation "all hold that numbering or other distinguishing marks on a ballot is contrary to both the letter and the spirit of the law guaranteeing a secret ballot." 112 P. at 316.

Washington, like other states, implemented the right of absolute secrecy by requiring uniform ballots marked in secrecy, thereby eliminating the possibility of tracing ballots to their voters. WASH. CONST. art. VI, § 6; *see also* RCW 29A.08.161. Through this *absolute* secrecy, states virtually eliminated voter coercion and vote-buying, which was seen as a ubiquitous and serious threat to our democracy.

For over a century the prohibition on numbering ballots went unquestioned, until vendors recently began pushing electronic voting systems that rely on unique ballot identifiers, or "UBIs," which print a unique number or unique bar code on each ballot.

In 2005, San Juan and several other counties in Washington State began imprinting a UBI on the face of each ballot, raising significant privacy concerns for voters. Some of these counties used an uncertified (illegal) ballot tracking system to link the UBI to a voter, destroying voter privacy. *See* CP459.

Voters are reasonably concerned that their votes cannot really be secret when their ballot is imprinted with a UBI and voting systems track both the UBIs and the identity of the voter.

This lawsuit achieved a permanent statewide injunction against the use of the particular ballot tracking voting system that previously allowed the UBI to be "linked" to the voter, CP1167-1169. But voters continue to

be concerned since it appears that none of our State's voting systems have been specifically evaluated for their ability to protect the secrecy of a uniquely numbered ballot.

The most significant investigation into UBIs was conducted by the Colorado Secretary of State, who concluded that:

The Secretary has received credible evidence that a unique number or bar code containing a unique serial number, printed on the face of a ballot can be used to trace the ballot to the voter who cast it. ... While there may be technological means of randomizing the numbers, it is essential that all Colorado voters have confidence in the processes and procedures for the upcoming Presidential election.

CP 481. The Colorado Secretary of State adopted a rule prohibiting UBIs, see CP 481-483, following the lead of California. See CP 1202, ¶ 23.

The State's largest county also prohibited UBIs, based upon its findings that UBIs are not necessary to ensure the integrity of elections and "the public has expressed significant concerns that ballot-tracking equipment could identify the ballots of individual voters." CP 175. Based upon focus groups, King County found that UBIs are "viewed by some as compromising the voter's right to a secret ballot" and in particular "voters over the age of 50 felt strongly that their vote needs to be 100 percent private – no bar codes." CP 135.

Each voter in the State should have equal protection of her constitutional guarantee that every method of voting secures absolute secrecy of every elector's ballot. It is not acceptable that voters in King County can cast their ballot with confidence that their votes are secret, whereas voters in certain other counties have reasonable doubt.

#### A. The Absolutely Secret Ballot is a Legal Imperative.

# 1. Washington's Constitution mandates a voting method securing absolute secrecy of the ballot.

The Washington State Constitution, Article VI, Section 6, provides that "The legislature shall provide for such method of voting as will secure to every elector *absolute secrecy* in preparing and depositing his ballot" (emphasis added).

## 2. Washington Voters have a fundamental right to absolute secrecy of their ballots.

The State Legislature has confirmed that "The rights of Washington voters are protected by its constitution and laws and include the *following fundamental rights* ... (2) *The right of absolute secrecy of the vote.*" RCW 29A.04.206 (emphasis added).

The fundamental right to an absolutely secret ballot has been further defined by statute to include the right to have one's ballot uniform with others in the precinct. RCW 29A.36.111 provides: "Every ballot for

a single combination of issues, offices, and candidates shall be uniform within a precinct ..." (emphasis added).

The Legislature also provides that: "No record may be *created or maintained* by a state or local governmental agency or a political organization that identifies a voter with the information marked on the voter's ballot..." RCW 29A.08.161 (emphasis added).

# 3. For over a century, Courts have uniformly held that the secret ballot prohibits the numbering of ballots.

The "Australian system" of voting, which includes the use of secret ballots and voting booths, was largely put into place in the late 1800s. *Burson v. Freeman*, 504 U.S. at 204. "By 1896, almost 90 percent of the States had adopted the Australian system." *Id.* 

Over the next decade, the courts came to a consensus that the guarantee of a secret ballot prohibited the numbering of ballots. In 1910, the Idaho Supreme Court decided *McGrane v. County of Nez Pierce*, 18 Idaho 714, 112 P. 312 (1910). In reviewing an election that accidentally used numbered ballots, the court reviewed the decisions of other state supreme courts to determine that "it is perfectly safe to say that the legislature would have no authority under this constitutional guarantee to require the numbering of the ballots. The authorities to that effect are

quite uniform." *McGrane*, 112 P. at 314.<sup>5</sup> The Court canvassed those other cases and found that "they *all* hold that numbering or other distinguishing marks on a ballot is contrary to both the letter and the spirit of the law guaranteeing a secret ballot." 112 P. at 316 (emphasis added).<sup>6</sup>

The U.S. Supreme Court has held that the right to a secret ballot must be strictly enforced. In *Burson*, the U.S. Supreme Court was confronted with a challenge to a statute that prevented electioneering near the polling place. The Court upheld a 100-foot ban on electioneering around the polling place as part of the secret ballot, noting that "[a] long history, a substantial consensus, and simple common sense show that some restricted zone around a polling place is necessary to protect that fundamental right." *Id.* at 211. In evaluating the need for protections such as the secret ballot, we must assume that bad actors will probe and

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also Brisbin v. Cleary, 26 Minn. 107, 1 N.W. 825 (1879) (numbering of ballot "clearly interferes with and violates the voter's constitutional privilege of secrecy."); Williams v. Stein, 38 Ind. 89 (1871) (numbering of ballots "is in palpable conflict not only with the spirit, but with the substance of the constitutional provisions."); Ritchie v. Morgan Richards et al, 14 Utah 345, 47 P. 670 (1896) (J. Bartch, concurring) (majority of justices concurring that a numbered ballot "is not secret, within the meaning and intent of the constitution."); Corn v. Blackwell, 191 S.C. 183, 4 S.E.2d 254 (1939) (accidental numbering of ballots destroyed their secrecy); In re Oppenstein, 289 Mo. 421, 233 S.W. 440 (1921) (where the constitution requires voting by ballot or secret ballot, "number and listing of ballots may not be constitutionally required.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> While courts have not addressed this issue for some time in the constitutional context, modern labor law cases have recognized the inherent lack of secrecy in a numbered ballot. *See*; *Chao v. Allied Pilots Ass'n*, 2007 WL 11562, 181 LRRM (BNA) 2578 (N.D. Tex. 2007) (computer voting system violated secret ballot requirement of LMRDA where staff could conceivably have vie wed how members cast vote, even though there was no evidence that this ever occurred).

someday penetrate if allowed, so the traditional secret ballot practices (including uniform ballots, without distinguishing marks) are designed to provide absolute assurances of ballot secrecy. We must not discard the umbrella merely because we cannot predict the timing of the storm.

## B. Voters with numbered ballots lack confidence in the secrecy of the ballot.

The guarantee of ballot secrecy is about more than preventing others from *actually* learning how a person voted, it is also about ensuring confidence in voter secrecy to avoid disenfranchisement. Uniform ballots make it *impossible* to learn how a person voted, so voters can cast their ballot with complete confidence in the secrecy of their ballot, and therefore free from the threat of intimidation and coercion. Separately, and of equal importance, untraceable uniform ballots assure that every *other* voter must likewise be voting in absolute secrecy, with no way to prove his choice to a vote buyer or intimidator.

The use of ballot identifiers undermines *voters' confidence* in the absolute secrecy of their ballots. Research conducted by King County Elections established that "The use of a unique identifier on a ballot for the purpose of tracking voted ballots is viewed by some as compromising the voter's right to a secret ballot." CP 137. Then State Director of Elections acknowledged these

privacy concerns in testimony to the Legislature's elections committees:

CP 1205, ¶ 32 ("there is an increasing amount of distrust by voters in the state about the fact that linkage occurs.")

Former Secretary of State Reed also acknowledged that the use of UBIs gives "people ... a perception they possibly could have their secrecy of the ballot violated." Reed acknowledged that voters may be "alarmed" about unique numbering of ballots. When asked whether the ballot tracking he advocates is a system that can link a ballot to the specific voter, Reed answered "For most counties, it is not," acknowledging that some counties did have linkage when this suit was filed.

Respondents acknowledge that in counties using numbered ballots, the secrecy of the ballot is not absolute, but contingent, relying upon the actions of the election staff. A report issued by former Secretary Reed admits that the secrecy of the ballot may rely upon "county procedures such as 'shuffling' the ballots and/or 'shuffling' the envelopes at the time of assembling absentee mailers." CP 1202-1203, ¶ 24. San Juan's Answer admitted that "illegal conduct, a voter not following instructions

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> TVW, Seattle P-I Editorial Board Candidate Interviews – Secretary of State, Oct. 6, 2008, http://www.tvw.org/watch/?eventID=2008101101 (last visited July 7, 2016); CP 1205, ¶ 33 (acknowledging quote).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> TVW, *Yakima Herald-Republic Editorial Board Candidate interviews - Secretary of State*, Sept. 30, 2008, http://www.tvw.org/watch/?eventID=2008091001 (last visited July 7, 2016); CP 1205, ¶ 33 (acknowledging quote).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See CP 1205, ¶ 33 (acknowledging quote) (italics added).

or an inadvertent mistake by election workers will allow a person to determine who voted a specific ballot." *Appendix C*,  $\P$  8.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

- A. This Case Involves a Significant Question of Law under the Washington State Constitution.
  - 1. The Constitution guarantees the fundamental right to an absolutely secret ballot.

Our democratic system of free and fair elections hinges on enforcement and equal protection of the absolutely secret method of voting. The constitutional requirement of an absolutely secret ballot, independently and as implemented by statute, is fundamental. "The terms of the statute are absolute, explicit and peremptory; no discretion is given. They are designed to secure the secrecy and purity of the ballot, are mandatory in their character and binding upon the electors." *State ex rel. Hanson v. Wilson*, 113 Wash. 49, 52 (1920).

As the United States Supreme Court acknowledged in *Burson*, we have taken the right to the secret ballot for granted for so long that we do not understand the harm that may come if we were to compromise it.

Defendants take the position that the constitutional prohibition on numbering of ballots is anachronistic because now the numbers can be written in bar codes and "protected" by complex computer programming. Yet, technological advances undermine these arguments. Now, for

example, every smart phone has the capability to instantaneously read a bar code, and we have seen that hackers can overcome computer security features as quickly as they are developed. Voters know that hackers have gained access to the highly protected governmental and corporate computer systems, so they know that a motivated hacker could likely uncover the linkage between the voter and his or her ballot.

# 2. This Court's enunciation of the secret ballot right is needed, since it has never issued a substantive opinion on that right.

"Voting is one of the most fundamental and cherished liberties in our democratic system of government." *Burson*, 504 U.S. at 213 (Kennedy, J., concurring). Yet, this Court has never evaluated the substance of our right to a secret ballot, jeopardizing this right.

This Court's silence on this important constitutional right left the Court of Appeals no guidance on determining what that right protects and whether and how it can be enforced. Despite the importance of the issues in the case, Division One did not even feel confident enough in its analysis to publish its opinion.

In interpreting the State Constitution's right to a secret ballot,
Division One could not point to a single Supreme Court decision on what
that right protects or whether it provides any protection at all. The only
Supreme Court case cited, *State v. Carroll*, 78 Wash. 83, 85, 138 P. 306

(1914), is a hundred year old case about whether voting machines were permissible. The lack of Supreme Court precedent left the trial court and Division One to make up a set of rules that effectively nullifies the right.

3. Without any other opinions, the Court of Appeals' indefensible opinion, although unpublished, will have the effect of undermining the constitution.

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