FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/19/2018 2:55 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96381-9

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TIMOTHY WHITE, ALLAN ROSATO, LINDA ORGEL, ARTHUR GRUNBAUM, and GREEN PARTY OF SAN JUAN COUNTY,

Petitioners,

v.

KIM WYMAN, individually and in her capacity as Secretary of State for the State of Washington, MILENE HENLEY, in her capacity as San Juan County Auditor, and SAN JUAN COUNTY,

Respondents.

### JOINT ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF RESPONDENTS SECRETARY OF STATE, SAN JUAN COUNTY AUDITOR, AND SAN JUAN COUNTY

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

PETER B. GONICK, WSBA 25616
PeterG@atg.wa.gov
Deputy Solicitor General

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

Mr. White's remaining authorities involve challenges to voting systems that allow voters to be linked to their votes (*see* Pet. at 10, n.5), and are thus inapposite. *See Brisbin v. Clearly*, 26 Minn. 107, 1 N.W. 825 (1879) (election procedure that required officials to place number on voted ballots and to record the number and the name of each elector created a link that eliminated ballot secrecy); *Ritchie v. Richards*, 14 Utah 345, 47 P. 670 (1896) (no voter can be compelled "to have his ballot so marked that it may be ascertained therefrom how he voted"); *Corn v. Blackwell*, 191 S.C. 183, 4 S.E.2d 254 (1939) (voters were identifiable because numbers on ballot corresponded to the numbers recorded with voters' names); *Ex parte Oppenstein*, 289 Mo. 421, 233 S.W. 440, 443 (1921) (mere numbering does not reveal the voter, but allowing comparison with a list of voters would violate secrecy). Indeed, these cases demonstrate that proof of linkage is possible, and therefore further refute Mr. White's assertion that the Court of Appeals imposed an impossible burden on plaintiffs. *See* Pet. at 16-17.

Not only do Mr. White's authorities fail to support a per se prohibition on ballot numbering, in fact ballot numbering has widely been used to inventory ballots and protect against "stuffing the ballot box" or other fraud.<sup>6</sup> Indeed, Washington has historically and recently permitted ballot numbering as a useful tallying tool.<sup>7</sup>

Thus, courts have not uniformly held that numbered ballots are a per se violation of ballot secrecy. Rather, secrecy of a ballot is impaired only when a number or barcode on the ballot permits identification of the voter—a showing Mr. White has not made and indeed has abandoned. *See John Doe No. 1 v. Reed*, 561 U.S. 186, 227, 130 S. Ct. 2811, 177 L. Ed. 2d 493 (2010) (Scalia, J., concurring in judgment) (noting that state constitutional ballot secrecy requirements "prohibit[] the numbering of ballots for voter identification purposes").

### 5. Alleged Voter Misconceptions About Barcodes are Not a Basis for a Categorical Bar on Their Use

White appears to argue that voter confidence may be undermined if there is a misconception that barcodes could reveal how voters voted or if

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See, e.g., State v. Connor, 86 Tex. 133, 139, 23 S.W. 1103 (1893) ("numbering of ballots was not calculated to intimidate voters, but was a means necessary to detect and punish fraud and to preserve the purity of the ballot box") (internal quotation marks omitted); Tex. Const. art. VI, § 4 ("In all elections by the people, the vote shall be by ballot, and the Legislature shall provide for the numbering of tickets . . . ."); Pullen v. Mulligan, 138 Ill. 2d 21, 69-71, 561 N.E.2d 585 (1990) (numbering of ballots by election officials to assist with tally okay because no evidence "suggests that the numbered ballots were actually traced to particular voters"); Killingsworth v. State Exec. Comm. of Democratic Party, 125 S.C. 487, 118 S.E. 822, 824 (1921) (numbered ballots permitted because not issued sequentially and cannot be linked to voters); West v. Ross, 53 Mo. 350, 353, 1873 WL 7982 (1873) (statute provided that "no ballot not numbered shall be counted"); see also 26 Am. Jur. 2d Elections § 328 (2018) ("the numbering of ballots before giving them to voter, affording thereby a ready means for identification, does not necessarily require their rejection").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See CP 375-76, 379 (1895, Session Laws of Washington Territory, pp 388-89, 392, numbers printed on ballots are read out loud as voters turn in ballots); CP 394 (Remington's Revised Statutes of Washington, Volume VI, 1932, p. 562, same); Former RCW 29A.36.161(6) (repealed 2011) (all ballots used at polling places "must be sequentially numbered"); Former WAC 434-230-180 (repealed 2007) (same).

illegal conduct could establish the link. Pet. at 11-12. But the legality of a voting system does not turn on alleged voter misconceptions. *Cf. State v. Eddings*, 86 Wash. 233, 238, 149 P. 945 (1915) (voter misconception of the law prohibiting distinguishing marks is not a basis for invalidating a vote unless there is evidence of fraud).<sup>8</sup>

And invalidating a voting system based on illegal conduct (like hacking) would have far-reaching consequences as "[a]ll voting systems are subject to criminal manipulation by corrupt or negligent voting officials." CP 459. But this risk is not increased by placing bar codes on ballots and therefore is "not a proper basis for the Court to conclude that bar codes are a per se violation of the right to a secret vote." *Id*.

Further, none of the public reports or statements cited by Mr. White support a per se prohibition on barcodes that do that not reveal voter identity. *See* Pet. at 7. Unlike Washington, Colorado prohibited ballot barcodes that could be "used to trace the ballot to the voter who cast it." Pet. at 7 (citing CP 481). King County merely noted some voters' fear that certain "ballot tracking equipment" could be used to link voters with ballots, but did not find that barcodes in fact compromised secrecy. *Id.* (citing CP 175). And all election procedures are dependent on human action to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> It is not clear why any alleged concerns with voter misconceptions could not be addressed through voter education, as opposed to a per se rule against ballot barcodes. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 245 (sample ballot explains that "there is no way to trace from bar code data back to an individual voter"); CP 257 (poster of sample ballot explains that bar codes are "NEVER traceable to individual voters") (emphasis in original); CP 72-73 (Secretary of State website explains that barcodes "do not identify to whom the ballot was issued" and "ballot is not linked to the voter in any way" nor can they "be used to identify a voter").

some extent and "shuffling" ballots to ensure that they will not be in sequential order when assembled for mailing is no different, nor is there any evidence that shuffling compromises ballot secrecy. CP 238. Thus, these do not support a per se prohibition on ballot barcodes.

## 6. Because Barcodes Do Not Violate Ballot Secrecy, the Use of Barcodes in Some Counties but Not Others Does Not Violate Equal Protection

Mr. White also raises an equal protection claim (Pet. at 5), but provides no authority or explanation of how this issue meets the criteria for review. For this reason alone, the Court should decline review. See RAP 13.4(e), RAP 10.3(a)(6); see also Chelan County Deputy Sheriffs' Ass'n v. Chelan County, 109 Wn.2d 282, 290 n.2, 745 P.2d 1 (1987) (declining to address issues unsupported by argument or citation.

In any case, as conceded by Mr. White's voluntary dismissal, there is no link between barcodes and voters. Therefore, the right to secrecy is uniformly protected in counties that use barcodes and those that do not. Without a showing that rights are being afforded by some counties and denied by others, there is no basis for an equal protection claim. Thus, the Court of Appeals properly rejected this claim because barcodes "do not violate the constitutional and statutory right to absolute secrecy in voting" and "[t]herefore, the use of [barcodes] in various counties did not result in disparate treatment." *White*, 2018 WL 3738404, at \*6.9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Indeed, to require all counties to adhere to a single rule on ballot barcodes—which can play an important role in ensuring a fair and accurate election—fails to recognize that counties face different challenges in counting and tracking votes. *See* CP 247 (six counties in 2004 found misplaced ballots); CP 244 (elections can be decided on a small margin in smaller counties). The secrecy provision was never intended to preclude

## B. This Case Does Not Raise Issues of Substantial Public Importance Because the Use of Barcodes Comports with Statutory Requirements

This case does not raise an issue of substantial public importance because the Court of Appeals properly found that the plain language in RCW 29A.08.161 and RCW 29A.36.111(1) prohibits only markings on ballots that would reveal the identity of the voter. And the court's use of the term "linkage" did not announce a new standard nor was it improper—it was merely a shorthand used by the parties and adopted by the court.

### 1. RCW 29A.08.161 Only Prohibits Records That Identify Voters with Information Marked on Their Ballots

RCW 29A.08.161 provides that "[n]o record may be created or maintained by a state or local governmental agency or a political organization that identifies a voter with the information marked on the voter's ballot." The Court of Appeals noted that "[t]he plain language of this statute prohibits a record that links an individual voter to his or her ballot" and therefore "a violation of that statute only occurs when a voter can be connected to the information marked on a ballot." *White*, 2018 WL 3738404, at \*5. Because barcodes "do not result in a record that identifies voters with the information marked on the voters' ballots" the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's determination that use of barcodes "was not a per se violation of RCW 29A.08.161." *Id*.

16

reasonable measures to facilitate tallying and increase election accuracy. *See Burson*, 504 U.S. at 202-204 (explaining that secret ballot was adopted by the states to address fraud and intimidation at polling places).

Mr. White argues that the court erred in interpreting RCW 29A.08.161 to apply only when a record is "created and maintained," and that San Juan County violated the statute when it "created" a record that could link voters with ballots prior to applying the patch to the MiBT. Pet. at 19-20. At the outset, the Court of Appeals opinion undertakes no such analysis because this is not the issue on appeal. *See White*, 2018 WL 3738404, at \*3. This is yet another attempt to revive Mr. White's already dismissed as applied challenge based on a system that is no longer in use. *See* CP 1999-1200 (arguing in motion for voluntarily dismissal that "Plaintiffs' *as applied* challenge is moot because the uncertified software is no longer in use, rendering inconsequential whether or not the software undermined ballot secrecy").

More importantly, nothing in the record shows that the MiBT software "created or maintained" records that could "identif[y] a voter with the information marked on the voter's ballot." RCW 29A.08.161. Instead, prior to applying a patch in 2008, the MiBT used in some counties could link a voter to a ballot to allow counties to report on which voters' ballots had been counted, but MiBT never revealed "how the voter had voted." CP 252. Thus, this argument—not addressed by the Court of Appeals—is completely unsupported by the record.

### 2. RCW 29A.36.111(1)'s Uniformity Requirement Does Not Categorically Prohibit Use of Barcodes

RCW 29A.36.111(1) provides that "[e]very ballot for a single combination of issues, offices, and candidates shall be uniform within a

precinct." And "[n]o paper ballot or ballot card may be marked by or at the direction of an election official in any way that would permit the identification of the person who voted that ballot." *Id*.

Reading these two sentences together, the Court of Appeals properly found that the uniformity requirement precludes unique ballot markings that reveal the identity of the voter. Indeed, the last sentence—which explicitly prohibits marking that "permit the identification of the person who voted that ballot"—would be superfluous if "uniform" meant that every ballot must be identical. RCW 29A.36.111(1); see Ralph v. State Dep't of Nat. Res., 182 Wn.2d 242, 248, 343 P.3d 342 (2014) (court must interpret statute to avoid rendering any clause superfluous). Moreover, this specific prohibition suggests that marks made by election officers that do not allow identification of voters are permitted. See Ellensburg Cement Products, Inc. v. Kittitas County, 179 Wn.2d 737, 750, 317 P.3d 1037 (2014) (a specific designation infers that the law does not operate on anything omitted).

Thus, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that because "[t]he statute makes no mention of and therefore does not apply to marks that do not permit identification of the vote . . . the plain language of the statute requires linkage between a mark and identification of the individual voter's ballot." *White*, 2018 WL 3738404, at \*6. Since barcodes "do not permit identification of the person who voted the ballot . . . the use of [barcodes] is not a per se violation of RCW 29A.36.111(1)." *Id*.

The rest of RCW 29A indicates that the uniformity requirement sets forth general layout rules for ballots, but nothing in the chapter suggests that

"uniformity" requires every ballot in a precinct to be identical in every respect. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 29A.36.121 (order of positions), RCW 29A.36.131 (order of candidates), RCW 29A.36.161 (arrangement of instructions). Instead, RCW 29A.04.008(1) recognizes that "ballot," as used in the chapter, includes voted ballots and provisional ballots—which obviously cannot be identical. *See State v. Elgin*, 118 Wn.2d 551, 556, 825 P.2d 314 (1992) (context of entire statute informs legislative intent).

Mr. White's sole authority does not support his argument that "uniform" must mean identical in RCW 29A.36.111(1). Pet. at 18 (citing *People ex rel. Nichols v. Bd. of Canvassers of Onondaga County*, 129 N.Y. 395, 428-19, 29 N.E. 327 (1891) (Gray, J. concurring)). In *Nichols*, a divided court held that ballots bearing nonconforming indorsements that revealed how voters voted should not be counted because the "primary aim" of laws requiring a uniform ballot is "to enable the voter to cast a ballot for the candidates of his choice without the possibility of revealing" the vote. 129 N.Y. at 403. Thus, as Mr. White concedes, the purpose of uniformity is "to protect the secrecy of the ballot," (Pet. at 18) which is why RCW 29A.36.111(1) specifically only precludes markings that identify a voter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Indeed, a former version of RCW 29A.36.111(1) provided greater detail on ballot formatting—for example, by requiring every ballot to be "uniform in color and size [and] be white and printed in black ink[.]" CP 404 (1990 Washington Laws Ch. 59 § 10). Amendments implementing the current language in the statute were intended to "unify and simplify the laws and procedures governing... ballot layout [and] ballot format" and thus removed categorical rules on formatting, replacing them with a general requirement that ballots be "uniform" and not marked in any way that would allow for identification of the voter. *See* CP 403-404 (1990 Washington Laws Ch. 59 §§ 1, 10).

### 3. The Court of Appeals' Use of the Term "Linkage" Did Not Announce a New Test

Mr. White argues that the Court of Appeals imposes an "insurmountable" burden on Plaintiff by requiring him to show that barcodes can be used to link ballots to voters. Pet. at 16-17. In particular, Mr. White argues that by using the term "linkage," the Court of Appeals devised a new and onerous standard at odds with *Burson*, 504 U.S. 191.

But in using the term "linkage," the Court was merely borrowing a term used by both parties at oral argument in the trial court as a shorthand for referring to the potential that placement of barcodes on a ballot would allow someone to identify the particular person who voted that ballot. *See* CP 458. And as discussed above, requiring linkage is completely consistent with *Burson. See supra* at 11-12. Moreover, proving or disproving "linkage" is not impossible—the Secretary of State has put forth ample evidence showing that ballot barcodes do not identify voters, and that there is no information in the barcode or voting systems that could be used to link a ballot to the person who voted the ballot. *See* CP 235-245, CP 246-263; *see also supra* at 12 (discussing cases where linkage was shown). Mr. White does not contest this evidence nor has he presented contrary evidence that ballot secrecy is in fact compromised by barcodes on ballots.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Because this case does not raise an issue of constitutional significance or public importance, the petition for review should be denied.